FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 7/29/2020 4:28 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/31/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>98846-3</u> Court of Appeals No. 36069-5-III

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SANTIAGO ALBERTO SANTOS,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
richard@washapp.org
waspofficemail@washapp.org

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW
В.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED5
	1. Review should be granted to decide whether due process required the trial court to instruct the jury that the State bore the burden of disproving Mr. Santos' defense of diminished capacity beyond a reasonable doubt where this defense negated an essential element of the offense
	2. Review should be granted to decide whether the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on self-defense was appropriate where "some evidence" supported Mr. Santos's claim of self-defense
	3. Review should be granted to decide whether statutory aggravating factors, which are "elements" of a criminal offense, must comply with the due process prohibition against vague laws. A dissenting judge would have held yes
	4. Review should be granted to decide whether the evidence was sufficient to prove the two aggravators found by the jury. A dissenting judge would have held the evidence was insufficient to prove the "destructive and foreseeable impact" aggravator. 17
E.	CONCLUSION20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Supreme Court

<u>Alleyne v. United States</u> , 570 U.S. 99, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2013)				
<u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u> , 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000)				
Beckles v. United States, U.S 137 S. Ct. 886, 197 L. Ed. 2d 145 (2017)				
<u>Blakely v. Washington</u> , 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004				
<u>Johnson v. United States</u> , U.S, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 192 L. Ed. 2d 569 (2015)				
Washington Supreme Court				
<u>State v. Acosta</u> , 101 Wn.2d 612, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984)				
State v. Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d 448, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003)				
<u>State v. Byrd</u> , 125 Wn.2d 707, 887 P.2d 396 (1995)				
<u>State v. Clark</u> , 187 Wn.2d 641, 389 P.3d 462 (2017)				
<u>State v. Furman</u> , 122 Wn.2d 440, 858 P.2d 1092 (1993) 5				
<u>State v. Griffin</u> , 100 Wn.2d 417, 670 P.2d 265 (1983)				
State v. Imokawa, 194 Wn.2d 391, 450 P.3d 159 (2019)				
<u>State v. Knapp</u> , 195 Wn.2d 1014, 461 P.3d 1197 (2020)				
State v. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983)				
<u>State v. Murray</u> , 190 Wn.2d 727, 416 P.3d 1225 (2018)				
State v. Stubbs, 170 Wn.2d 117, 240 P.3d 143 (2010)				

<u>State v. Suleiman</u> , 158 Wn.2d 280143 P.3d 795 (2006)				
State v. W.R., Jr., 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014) 6, 7, 10				
State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997)				
Washington Court of Appeals				
State v. Brush, 2 Wn. App. 2d 40, 425 P.3d 545 (2019)				
State v. DeVore, 2 Wn. App. 2d 651, 413 P.3d 58 (2018)				
State v. George, 161 Wn. App. 86, 249 P.3d 202 (2011)				
State v. Gough, 53 Wn. App. 619, 768 P.2d 1028 (1989)				
State v. Webb, 162 Wn. App. 195, 252 P.3d 424 (2011)				
Other Cases				
<u>Humanik v. Beyer</u> , 871 F.2d 432 (3d Cir. 1989)				
Constitutional Provisions				
Const. art. I, § 3				
U.S. Const. amend. XIV				
Statutes				
LAWS OF 2005, ch. 68, § 1				
RCW 9.94A.535(3)(r)				
RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b)				
RCW 9A.32.30(1)(a)				
RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c)				
Rules				
RAP 13.4(b)(1)				

RAP 13.4(b)(2)	
RAP 13.4(b)(3)	
RAP 13.4(b)(4)	

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Santiago Santos, the appellant in the Court of Appeals, asks this

Court to grant review of the decision terminating review.

1

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. When evidence supports a defense and the defense negates an element of the offense, the jury must be instructed that the State has the burden of disproving the defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Evidence supported Mr. Santos's defense of diminished capacity and it negated the mental elements of the offenses. Did the court err by refusing to instruct the jury that the State bore the burden of disproving diminished capacity beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 2. When some evidence supports a claim of self-defense, the court must instruct the jury on self-defense. Evidence showed a struggle between Mr. Santos and the decedent, and Mr. Santos believed the decedent struck him on the back of his head. The decedent was under the influence of ketamine, an anesthetic that causes a dissociative state and hallucinations. Mr. Santos's mental state was diminished. Given the

¹ A copy of the decision, issued April 20, 2020, along with the order denying Mr. Santos's motion to reconsider, issued June 18, 2020, are attached in the appendix. Because the Court of Appeals used the wrong email address, counsel did not receive a copy of the order denying the motion to reconsider from the court until June 29, 2020. Due to the error, the clerk extended the due date for the petition to 30 days from June 29, 2020.

evidence, did the court err by refusing to instruct the jury on self-defense?

- 3. Elements of an offense violate due process if they are so vague that they fail to provide notice or invite arbitrary application. Statutes that fix or increase sentences are also subject to the void for vagueness doctrine. Aggravating factors are elements and increase the range of punishment. Are they subject to vagueness challenges?
- 4. Both the deliberate cruelty aggravator and the destructive impact aggravator are inherently speculative, and subject to arbitrary application.

 Is either aggravator void for vagueness?
- 5. The destructive impact aggravator requires proof that the impact of the crime on a third person be lasting and be of a destructive nature atypical of the crime. The evidence proved neither. Did the State fail to prove the destructive impact aggravator?
- 6. The deliberate cruelty aggravator requires proof the crime was atypical in that it was more cruel than the typical one. No evidence was elicited about the "typical" second degree felony murder predicated on assault with a deadly weapon. Did the State fail to prove the deliberate cruelty aggravator?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A complete recitation of the facts is set out in Mr. Santos's opening brief. Br. of App. at 5-11.

To summarize, Mr. Santos found himself at Mr. Jaime's house early one morning following a night of heavy drinking. RP 886-87; Ex. 195. Mr. Jaime was Mr. Santos's age and lived close to Mr. Santos's house. RP 681, 689. Mr. Santos testified that Mr. Jaime had invited him in. RP 887. Mr. Santos knew Mr. Jaime and had known him since childhood. RP 885, 908-09. He did not remember what happened in the house, but he vaguely recalled a struggle, and believed that Mr. Jaime might have struck him in the back of his head because it had hurt the next day when he woke up in police custody. RP 892, 945, 947.

The autopsy of Mr. Jaime showed he had been stabbed many times. RP 595-96. There were no defensive wounds. RP 589. The autopsy revealed that Mr. Jaime had a significant amount of ketamine, a controlled substance, in his system. RP 709, 716. Ketamine is an anesthetic that may be used in surgeries, but is also used recreationally. RP 600-01, 710, 713. It has dissociative and hallucinogenic properties. RP 600-01, 713. There was no evidence that Mr. Jaime had been injected with ketamine. See RP 577-606 (testimony of forensic pathologist).

The State charged Santiago Santos in the homicide of Manuel Jaime. Specifically, the State alleged first degree murder and, in the alternative, second degree felony murder predicated on second degree assault. CP 6-7. On both counts, the State alleged two aggravating

circumstances, deliberate cruelty and that the offense had a destructive and foreseeable impact on other persons. CP 6-7.

Mr. Santos's primary defense was diminished capacity. Dr. Philip Barnard, a clinical psychologist, concluded that Mr. Santos was delusional. RP 938. He diagnosed Mr. Santos with delusional disorder and a personality disorder with schizoid paranoia and avoidant features. RP 948-50. Mr. Santos agreed that he was mentally ill. RP 880. Dr. Barnard testified that Mr. Santos's mental disorder prevented him from forming the intent necessary to commit the charged crimes:

Q. Based upon the mental illness that he suffers from, do you have an opinion to a reasonable degree of medical or psychological certainty whether or not Mr. Santos could have formed the intent to commit the crime charged in this case?

A. I do. I believe that he could not. I believe that he has been afraid of being attacked, followed, attacked. When he entered the house, Mr. Jamie's house, that he was struck from behind. So it's like his delusional belief came to fruition and that it happened. I think that drove him into a psychotic rage, which was assisted with the disinhibiting factor of the extreme alcohol use so that he stabbed Mr. Jamie several times trying to defend himself.

RP 949-50.

Based on Dr. Barnard's testimony, the jury was instructed on diminished capacity, but not that the State bore the burden to disprove the defense. RP 1052, 1064-66. The court refused to instruct the jury on self-

defense. RP 1064-66.

On count one, the jury convicted Mr. Santos of the lesser offense of first degree manslaughter. RP 1164. On count two, the jury convicted Mr. Santos of second degree felony murder. RP 1164. As to count two, the jury found the two aggravators had been proved. RP 1164-65.

The State sought an exceptional sentence upward. CP 160-61. The court vacated the manslaughter conviction and sentenced Mr. Santos on the conviction for second degree felony murder. CP 195. The court determined that an exceptional sentence was warranted and increased Mr. Santos's sentence by ten years. RP 1235.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Review should be granted to decide whether due process required the trial court to instruct the jury that the State bore the burden of disproving Mr. Santos' defense of diminished capacity beyond a reasonable doubt where this defense negated an essential element of the offense.

Mr. Santos' primary defense was one of diminished capacity. <u>See</u>

<u>State v. Griffin</u>, 100 Wn.2d 417, 418-19, 670 P.2d 265 (1983). Diminished capacity is a mental condition that makes a person incapable of possessing or forming the required mental state necessary to commit the charged offense. <u>State v. Furman</u>, 122 Wn.2d 440, 454, 858 P.2d 1092 (1993); <u>State v. Gough</u>, 53 Wn. App. 619, 622, 768 P.2d 1028 (1989).

In support of his defense, Mr. Santos called Dr. Barnard, a clinical psychiatrist, to testify and provide evidence in support of this defense. RP 914. Dr. Barnard testified that Mr. Santos suffers from mental illness. RP 948. Among other diagnoses, he diagnosed Mr. Santos with delusional disorder. RP 949-50. In Dr. Barnard's expert opinion, Mr. Santos's capacity was diminished. He opined that, as a result of this diminished capacity, Mr. Santos had been incapable of forming the intent necessary to commit the charged offenses. RP 949-50.

The trial court found the evidence supported instructing the jury on Mr. Santos' defense of diminished. RP 1052; cf. Griffin, 100 Wn.2d at 418-19 (requirements for diminished capacity were met). Based on this determination, the court instructed the jury that: "Evidence of mental illness or disorder may be taken into consideration in determining whether the defendant had the capacity to form the intent to accomplish a result that constitutes a crime." CP 121. The court, however, refused to instruct the jury that the State bore the burden of disproving diminished capacity beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 1064-66.

This was error. If a defense negates an element of an offense and is supported by the evidence, due process requires the State to disprove the defense beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. W.R., Jr.</u>, 181 Wn.2d 757, 763, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014). To ensure compliance with due process, the

jury must be adequately instructed on the State's burden to disprove the defense. State v. Imokawa, 194 Wn.2d 391, 397, 450 P.3d 159 (2019).

"The key to whether a defense necessarily negates an element is whether the completed crime and the defense can coexist." W.R., 181 Wn.2d at 765. The offense of first degree murder required proof of premeditated intent to cause the death of another person. RCW 9A.32.30(1)(a). The offense of second degree felony murder, predicated on second degree assault also required proof of intent. RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b); RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c); State v. Byrd, 125 Wn.2d 707, 716, 887 P.2d 396 (1995) (assault requires proof of intent). If Mr. Santos's defense of diminished capacity was valid, this necessarily meant he could not be guilty of these offenses because he was incapable of having the requisite intent to kill or assault. Therefore, because the evidence supported Mr. Santos's claim of diminished capacity, the State bore the burden of disproving it beyond a reasonable doubt. And because the jury instructions did not make this requirement manifestly clear to the jury, Mr. Santos establishes constitutional error.

This analysis is supported by this Court's recent decision in <u>State v. Imokawa</u>, 194 Wn.2d 391, 450 P.3d 159 (2019). In rejecting Mr. Santos' argument, the Court of Appeals failed to acknowledge <u>Imokawa</u>.

In Imokawa, the defendant was found guilty of vehicular homicide and vehicular assault. 194 Wn.2d at 395-96. This required proof that the defendant's driving was a proximate cause of the death and injury. The defendant argued that due process also required the jury be instructed that the State bore the burden of disproving the presence of a superseding intervening cause. The defendant argued this was so because the presence of a superseding intervening cause negated the element of proximate cause.

This Court rejected the argument, holding that simply instructing the jury that the prosecution bore the burden to prove proximate cause complied with due process. <u>Id.</u> at 402-03. While the presence of a superseding intervening cause would have required acquittal, the jury was adequately informed of this because the definitional instruction on proximate cause conveyed this. <u>Id.</u> In other words, the instructions as a whole conveyed the prosecution's burden. <u>Id.</u>

In so holding, the Court set out the following rule:

when the jury is instructed on a defense that necessarily negates an element listed in the to-convict instruction, a definitional instruction adequately informs the jury of the State's burden of proof, as the defense and the element are mutually exclusive. But, where the defense negates an aspect of the crime not contained in the to-convict instruction, then a definitional jury instruction is not sufficient.

Id. at 399-400 (emphasis added)

Here, diminished capacity negated the requirement that Mr. Santos have the ability to form the requisite mental state. See Humanik v. Beyer, 871 F.2d 432, 443 (3d Cir. 1989) ("[i]f the defendant's evidence on mental disease or defect is sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt about the existence of the requisite intent, it cannot constitutionally be ignored"). And it negated an aspect of the crime not contained in the to-convict instruction. Imokawa, 194 Wn.2d at 399-400.

To be sure, the prosecution bore the burden of proving Mr. Santos did not act with intent or knowledge. But that is not the same as diminished capacity because the State is "not automatically required to prove the defendant's capacity to form a culpable mental state; such capacity is presumed unless the defendant places it at issue." State v. Clark, 187 Wn.2d 641, 653, 389 P.3d 462 (2017). When diminished capacity is properly introduced into the case, the jury must receive specific instructions because "[g]eneralized instructions on criminal intent are not sufficient to apprise a jury of mental disorders which may diminish a defendant's capacity to commit a crime." Griffin, 100 Wn.2d at 420.

This is akin to self-defense. Because a general instruction about intent or knowledge does not convey to the jury that the prosecution must disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt when the issue is

properly introduced into the case, the jury must be instructed in a manner to make this requirement manifestly clear. <u>Imokawa</u>, 194 Wn.2d at 398-99; State v. Acosta, 101 Wn.2d 612, 617-19, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984).

The Court of Appeals failed to follow this Court's precedents in analyzing the issue. Instead, the Court of Appeals chose to follow <u>State v. Marchi</u>, 158 Wn. App. 823, 243 P.3d 556 (2010). <u>Marchi</u> addressed the issue, but failed to engage in the "negates" analysis. This disregard of the negates analysis is incorrect. <u>W.R.</u>, 181 Wn.2d at 763. Rather, the opinion appears to reject the argument on the theory that diminished capacity caused by mental illness is not actually a defense. <u>Marchi</u>, 158 Wn. App. at 835-36.

Discretionary review is warranted. The Court of Appeals' decision disregarding this Court's framework, as set out in <u>Imokawa</u> and <u>W.R.</u>, is contrary to this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1). As an issue of due process, the issue concerns a significant constitutional question. RAP 13.4(b)(3). It is also an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

These conclusions are supported by this Court's grant of review in State v. Knapp, 195 Wn.2d 1014, 461 P.3d 1197 (2020), which concerns a related issue. There, the Court is addressing whether in a prosecution for second degree rape by forcible compulsion in which the defendant

asserted the defense of consent, the State bore the burden to prove the absence of consent, and if so, whether the jury should have been so instructed.² As in Knapp, this Court should grant review. Alternatively, the Court should stay consideration of this petition of review in light of Knapp, and consider review or remand to the Court of Appeals following Knapp.³

2. Review should be granted to decide whether the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on self-defense was appropriate where "some evidence" supported Mr. Santos's claim of selfdefense.

A trial court should instruct the jury on a defendant's claim of selfdefense when there is some evidence in support. State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 473, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). All the evidence at trial is considered and is viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 488, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983); State v. George, 161 Wn. App. 86, 95, 249 P.3d 202 (2011). Once threshold burden is met, due process requires the State to prove the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Walden, 131 Wn.2d at 469.

https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate trial courts/supreme/issues/casesNotSetAndCurren tTerm.pdf

³ In a case raising the same issue concerning diminished capacity and the jury instructions, this Court stayed consideration of the petition pending a final decision in Knapp. State v. Arnsten, No. 98199-0.

Mr. Santos asked the court to instruct the jury on self-defense and proposed self-defense instructions. RP 20-21, 1044-48; CP 84-93, 99. In support, he relied primarily on his own testimony along with the testimony from Dr. Barnard. RP 1044-48, 1050-51.

Considering all the evidence and viewing that evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Santos, some evidence supported Mr. Santos' claim of self-defense. Mr. Jaime invited Mr. Santos into his home and later attacked Mr. Santos by hitting him hard on the back of his head. RP 889-92, 945-48. Because Mr. Jaime was under the influence of ketamine, he could continue to attack Mr. Santos without feeling pain from the wounds Mr. Santos inflicted upon him in self-defense. RP 593, 601, 1045. Given this evidence, the court should have instructed the jury on self-defense. Br. of App. at 26-29.

The Court of Appeals reasoned that because Mr. Santos could specifically recall the events, his lack of memory meant there was not some evidence to support a conclusion that he acted in self-defense. Slip op. at 24. This does not follow. A person may lose their memory when assaulted by another, such as when one suffers a head injury. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Santos, including Mr. Santos's testimony that he must have been acting in self-defense if he inflicted the wounds on Mr. Jaime, some evidence supported the claim of self-defense.

That Mr. Santos lacked specific memory does not eliminate the other facts which would support a rationale determination that Mr. Santos acted in self-defense. Further, the Court of Appeals implied that being battered in the head cannot create a reasonable belief of imminent danger of death or great bodily injury. Slip op at 24. This is incorrect. Walden, 131 Wn.2d at 477-78 (a battery may qualify as a great personal injury and a self-defense instruction that defined great personal injury to exclude simple batteries was erroneous).

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with well-established principles governing when a court must instruct the jury on self-defense. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The issue is one of substantial public interest to clarify that a lack of specific memory by a defendant does not preclude a self-defense claim. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should grant review.

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