# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/2/2020 8:00 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98846-3

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### SANTIAGO ALBERTO SANTOS,

Appellant.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

TA	ABLE OF AUTHORITIESii-	-iii
A.	INTRODUCTION	1
	ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION	2

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

This court need look no further than its previous analysis in <a href="Imokawa">Imokawa</a> and <a href="State v. Marchi">State v. Marchi</a>, 158 Wn.App. 823, 833, 243 P.3d 556 (2010 to determine this issue does not meet any of the criterion of RAP 13.4 and therefore, does not merit review.

Santos cites this court's grant in State v. Knapp, 195 Wn.2d 1014, 461 P.3d 1197 (2020). Alleging the defense of consent is "a related issue" to diminished capacity. Brief at 10-11. This court's analysis has been consistent that if that which the State is required to prove is an element or as with Knapp, a defense "negates" an element which makes the crime impossible to have been committed then the State has duty to prove the lack of consent, the defense, beyond a reasonable doubt. As analyzed

above diminished capacity does not negate an element, it does not, as does consent, make the crime impossible to commit. That is not true regarding the diminished capacity defense.

#### 2. Self Defense.

Here again the ruling by the Court of Appeals does not meet any criterion set forth in RAP 13.4. Santos' claim is that this court must accept review because the lower court's ruling "...is in conflict with well-established principles governing when a trial court must instruct on self-defense RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2) and that clarifying that a lack of a specific memory by *this* defendant which, according to Santos is the reason he was not allowed to claim self-defense, is of substantial public interest.

While the ability to present this alleged defense in Santos' trial was of great import to he and his case, it is not an issue of "substantial public interest." This type of defense is fact specific. The evidence presented to the jury was not merely that Santos could not remember how or who, if anyone, had struck him in the head. The was the most information that was presented which could even remotely be considered as a legal basis for Santos to act as he did. And that one small fact when considered in context with the horrific nature of the murder clearly allowed the trial court to determine that even the minimal amount of evidence which must be presented to a jury to allow this defense had not been proffered.

The Court of Appeal did not, as Santos claims "... reasoned that because Mr. Santos could specifically recall the events, his lack of memory meant there was not some evidence to support a conclusion that he acted in self-defense." The Court of Appeals set forth a very lengthy recitation of the facts of this case. That is a synopsis of hundreds of pages of testimony and the discussion of one specific fact does not somehow mean the Court of Appeals ignored all of the other facts and evidence presented or not presented. That court is tasked to review the entire record. What the court stated regarding this defense was:

In determining whether the evidence suffices to support a jury instruction on an affirmative defense, the court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant. State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 687-88, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). This standard has both subjective and objective elements. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 772 (1998).

The subjective element requires the trial court to place itself in the shoes of the defendant and view the defendant's acts in light of all the facts and circumstances known to the defendant. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d at 772. The objective element requires the trial court to determine what a reasonably prudent person similarly situated would have done. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d at 772.

Santiago Santos contends that the evidence presented satisfied the low threshold for self-defense instructions. He concedes an incomplete memory of being inside Manuel Jaime's residence, but he argues that the trial court could have inferred he subjectively feared imminent, serious injury due to his delusions. Santiago Santos produced no evidence demonstrating that he reasonably believed he was in imminent danger

of death or great personal injury, let alone in immediate threat by conduct of Manuel Jaime. Santos testified he thought someone hit him on the back of the head, though he did not remember who hit him or any other details. Santos could not recall whether he and Manuel Jaime were involved in any sort of altercation on the night of the murder. He simply woke up with pain and claimed he had a lump on the back of his head.

Santos failed in the trail court, the Court of Appeals and finally in this court to explain how his stabbing someone 59 or more times could be self-defense where when he was stabbing the victim 59 times, he stopped and used the bathroom, washed his hands then went back to stabbing the victim while taunting the victim with statements such as "you're dying slowly. I told you I was going to do this." PR 383 and I'm going to come back for your family."

Even if Santos had stated unequivocally Jaime hit him in the head the *totality* of the evidence considered in best light for the defendant would not have resulted in there being sufficient evidence to allow the trial court to grant the giving of the self-defense instruction. See the extensive facts set forth in Appendices A, B, and C.

## 3. Statutory aggravators are not elements of the offense and thus are not amenable to a void for vagueness challenge.

Santos claims this court should review this allegation because "a dissenting judge would have held yes" the aggravators charged in this case were ripe for review under a void for vagueness challenge.

Santos does not address the majority opinion which relies on well established case law which in no manner or means would warrant review under RAP 13.4.

Judge Pennell, the dissenting jurist, did not state that the two aggravators charged in this case could be challenged for vagueness what she actually stated was:

... I disagree with the majority's aggravating factors analysis. Contrary to the majority and our prior decision in <a href="State v. DeVore">State v. DeVore</a>, 2 Wn. App. 2d 651, 413 P.3d 58 (2018), I believe Washington's sentencing guidelines are theoretically amenable to a vagueness challenge. Nevertheless, the challenge here fails on the merits.

The Chief Judge the proceeds to explain that while theoretically there could be a challenge to aggravators neither of the aggravators that were before this jury were in fact void, negating Santos' allegation.

Again, this court is tasked to review matters which were before the trial court or the Court of Appeals, not theoretically matters when a motion such as this is presented to the court.

Judge Pennell's analysis of this theoretical vagueness challenge of these two aggravators states:

According to Mr. Santos, the foregoing definition did not provide the jury with a sufficient framework for assessing the applicability of a deliberate cruelty aggravator. Specifically, the jury was not advised of the types of harm inherent to or typical of murder. Thus, he claims that the jury's assessment of the aggravator was standardless and

arbitrary. I disagree. The crime of murder is well understood in American culture. No guesswork or speculation is required to determine that stabbing someone 59 times is excessive and therefore more violent or egregious than a standard homicide. Cf. Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2557 (holding statute asking courts to determine whether a normally nonviolent crime nevertheless generally creates a serious risk of injury denies fair notice and is too standardless to survive a vagueness challenge). As applied to Mr. Santos's case, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(a) is not impermissibly vague.

. . .

The trial court did not provide an instruction defining destructive and foreseeable impact; nevertheless, that factor withstands Mr. Santos's vagueness challenge. The facts at trial made clear the jury was asked two things by RCW 9.94A.535(3)(r):

- 1. Was Mr. Santos on notice that third parties (such as the children who lived with the victim, Manuel Jaime) might have witnessed his criminal conduct?
- 2. Did witnessing the murder cause a third person to suffer a destructive impact?

These two questions are precise and readily answerable in a nonarbitrary manner. A person of reasonable understanding would not have to guess that murdering someone in the presence of a child could result in an enhanced sentence under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(r). Mr. Santos's vagueness challenge therefore fails. (Slip at 51)

In the last four months all three Divisions of the Court of Appeals

have ruled similarly.

State v. Bennett, 35297-8-III (WACA) 06/25/2020: "Baldwin remains good law and applies here. Bennett cannot assert vagueness challenge to RCW 9.94A.535(3)(a), (b).

Even assuming Bennett can make his vagueness challenges, he makes no showing that the deliberate cruelty and victim vulnerability factors are vague as applied to his conduct.

State v. Haller, 52713-8-II (WACA) 07/21/2020: "Like the sentencing guidelines at issue in *Baldwin*, RCW 9.94A.660 does not fix the penalty for the crimes charged. Rather, it sets the criteria for when a person is eligible for a DOSA and permits the sentencing court to use its discretion in determining whether such an alternative is appropriate. Under *Baldwin*, the vagueness doctrine does not apply to RCW 9.94A.660, and Haller's argument fails.

State v. Engberg, 79082-0-I (WACA) 04/20/2020: "Engberg fails to address multiple recent opinions by this court that have provided guidance on this issue. We decline to overrule our recent precedent. The State correctly points out that this court has expressed that *Baldwin* is still good law as to the proposition that aggravators are not subject to vagueness challenges. *See State v. Brush*, 5 Wn.App.2d 40, 56-63, 425 P.3d 545 (2018); *See also State v. DeVore*, 2 Wn.App.2d 651, 660-65, 413 P.3d 58 (2018).

Brush explicitly states, "[w]e hold that Baldwin remains good law. Accordingly, we apply Baldwin and hold that Brush cannot assert a vagueness challenge to RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(i)." 5 Wn.App.2d at 63. Brush is directly on point, providing a thorough analysis of the defendant's vagueness challenge to RCW 9.94A525(3)(h)(i) in light of Blakely, Engberg's briefing fails to acknowledge Brush, He does not offer the necessary support to confront his constitutional challenge or provide argument as to why we should not adhere to precedent. For these reasons, Engberg's argument is not well taken and, in reviewing Brush, we do not find any reason to doubt our decision there. As such, the court's denial of Engberg's pretrial motion challenging the aggravator as void for vagueness was proper."

State v. Hernandez, 79943-6-I (WACA) 07/20/2020: "As discussed above, because this statute simply guides a sentencing court in deciding whether to impose this requirement, it is not subject to a vagueness challenge. We affirm."

There is no basis for this allegation to be reviewed by this court. All three divisions are clearly in agreement that this question is not reviewable using a void for vagueness analysis. This court should not grant review of well-reasoned law because one jurist opines that aggravators are "theoretically" reviewable under a challenge for vagueness.

## 4. Sufficient evidence was presented prove both charged aggravators beyond a reasonable doubt.

In this motion Santos again asserts without citation to any case from this, any other state or federal authority, that the State must present evidence from other homicides in order to prove this particularly heinous act was more heinous than others there is nothing which can substitute for the Court of Appeals opinion:

Santiago Santos stabbed Manuel Jaime in the chest, the flanks, the back, and the head 59 times. Santos then taunted Jaime as he helplessly bled to death. Santos left Jaime barely alive but in pain until he died at the hospital. Thus, the State proved the existence of "deliberate cruelty" beyond a reasonable doubt.

Santiago Santos argues, without citation to authority, that the State needed to introduce testimony or documentary evidence setting forth facts of other murder cases showing other homicides to be significantly less egregious. This court does not review errors not briefed or supported with citation to authority. RAP 10.3; Valente v. Bailey, 74 Wn.2d 857, 858, 447 P.2d

589 (1968); Meeks v. Meeks, 61 Wn.2d 697, 698, 379 P.2d 982 (1963); Avellaneda v. State, 167 Wn. App. 474, 485 n.5, 273 P.3d 477 (2012). (Emphasis added.)

Santos' one citation to authority regarding the necessity for the State to prove his crime was "atypical if the ordinary offense" is one footnote from a case addressing the *trial court's ability* to impose and exceptional sentence, <u>State v. Suleiman</u>, 158 Wn.2d 280, 294 n.5, 143 P.3d 795 (2006). <u>Suleiman</u> is factually and legally distinguishable. <u>Suleiman</u> argued that the trial court did not have the legal ability to impose an exceptional sentence, that <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004), mandates this type of action must be plead and proven to a jury, just as was done in Santos' case. <u>Sulieman</u> does not support Santos allegation:

...the trial court had to make additional factual findings above and beyond the admitted facts in order to support an exceptional sentence based on victim vulnerability. Because those facts were not found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, Suleiman's exceptional sentence violates the Sixth Amendment under *Blakely*. even so, the United States Supreme Court recently concluded that *Blakely* errors can be subject to harmless error analysis.

Washington v. Recuenco. \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed. 2d 466 (2006). We therefore remand to the Court of Appeals for determination of whether the *Blakely* error in this case was harmless. <u>Suleiman</u>, supra at 284.

Here the State presented evidence to the **jury** upon which that jury made a determination, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the State's

evidence supported the charged aggravators. <u>Suleiman's</u> case in fact supports the actions of the State and supports the verdict a JURY must find these facts and not the court and so found in Santos' trial.

As Division III stated in <u>State v. Bennett</u> unpublished opinion to which the State would direct this court, pursuant to GR 14.19(a) to consider as nonbinding authority and accord such persuasive value as this court deems appropriate:

Bennett also contends the State was required to provide the jury with comparative facts of other murder cases to prove the murder was atypical to other murders. His assertion is unsupported by any authority and lacks merit. His cited cases State v. Suleiman, 158 Wn.2d 280, 294 n.5, 143 P.3d 795 (2006) and State v. Faagata, 147 Wn.App. 236, 249-51, 193 P.3d 1132 (2008), rev'd on other grounds by State v. Turner, 169 Wn.2d 448, 238 P.3d 461 (2010), merely reiterate the principle that post-Blakely it is the jury's role to determine atypicality. The cases do not require the State to present comparative evidence. (Footnote omitted.)

Santos' claims the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with State v. Webb, 162 Wn. App. 195, 252 P.3d 424 (2011), it does not. Once again quoting directly from the majority "Webb is inapt because the facts in Webb differ materially from those here." The Court then states:

... Unlike Webb, the jury in Mr. Santos's case was provided evidence relevant to whether a third person exhibited an observable destructive impact subsequent to the commission of the crime. The third party at issue in Mr. Santos's case—the boy who observed the murder—testified at trial. The jury was

able to observe the boy's demeanor during his testimony and discern for itself whether there was a destructive impact. Although the boy was not asked to articulate his specific feelings of trauma, deference to the jury's verdict is nevertheless appropriate.

Because the jury was presented with sufficient evidence that Santiago Santos was on notice that children lived at Manuel Jaime's house (and therefore likely would be present at the time of the murder) and because the murder was witnessed by a third party who described his observations at trial and subjected his demeanor to the jury's scrutiny, the enhancement under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(r) must be affirmed.

#### **D. CONCLUSION**

The Court of Appeals opinion does not merit review by this court. Santos has not presented this court with anything which would meet the exacting standards set forth in RAP 13.4. This court should deny review.